IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

DEC 1 1997

PATRICIA HILTON SHIVER,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk
Case No. 91,793

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CYNTHIA J. DODGE ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 345172

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State Attorney for the Tenth Judicial Circuit filed an information on December 2, 1994, charging the Petitioner, PATRICIA HILTON SHIVER, with carrying a concealed weapon, driving with a suspended license, and operating with an expired registration plate. The date of the ofenses was November 12, 1994. (R2-4) On May 11, 1995, after having pleaded no contest to the charges, the Honorable Dennis P. Maloney, sentenced the Appellant to two years probation for carrying the concealed firearm and to six months probation for driving with a suspended license. (R5-7) As agreed, the state dismissed the tag offense. The guidelines at that time allowed a nonstate prison sanction with a total score of 40.4. (R8-9)

On September 29, 1995, the Department of Corrections filed an amended affidavit of violation of probation. (R21) On November 17, 1995, the Petitioner admitted the violation and the court placed her on two years community control to be followed by three years probation. (R23)

On February 12, 1996, the state filed an information charging the Petitioner with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and sale, delivery, or possession of a firearm with an altered serial number. The date of the offenses was October 9, 1995. (R28-30) The Department then filed an affidavit of violation of community control on June 20, 1996, alleging the Petitioner was

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Section 790.27(2), Florida Statutes (1995), makes the crime a first-degree misdemeanor.

away from her apported residence and that she had absconded from supervison. (R32-33)

The Petitioner entered into a negotiated plea agreement on April 12, 1996, for the new charges (possession of a firarm by a convicted felon and the sale or delivery of a firarm with an altered serial number). (R65-67) The agreement contemplated a score of less than 52 and provided for a sentence of 2 years community control and three years probation. The Petitioner would plead to the felony and the state would dismiss the misdemeanor. Id.

On December 30, 1996, the Honorable E. Randolph Bentley held a sentencing hearing on the violation and new substantive charge. At the hearing, Petitioner's counsel objected to the addition of 18 points for the firearm on both scoresheets. (R37-40) The court agreed, and struck the 18 points for the firearm. (R40) The court sentenced the Petitioner to two years community control to be followed by three years probation for the new felony and for the felony for which the court revoked community control. (R53-54) The court also gave the Petitioner credit for time served on supervision prior to the violation and imposed court costs. Id. The state then filed its notice of appeal on January 3, 1997. (R72)

By order dated October 17, 1997, the Second District Court of appeal reversed the Petitioner's sentence, holding that the trial court should not have struck the 18 points for a firearm off the Petitioner's scoresheets. State v. Shiver, 22 Fla. L. Weekly

D2437A (Fla. 2d DCA 1997); (Appendix A-1). The Second District Court noted conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Galloway v. State, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). The Second District had previously certified the the same conflict in White v. State, 689 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), review granted, 696 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 1997) (Case No. 89,998), which is currently pending before this Court.

Petitioner then timely filed her notice to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court on November 5, 1997. (Appendix A-2)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court was correct in striking 18 points from the Petitioner's scoresheet. Petitioner was convicted in the trial court of the offenses of carrying a concealed firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Petitioner was not convicted of any other felony offense. Possession of a firearm is an essential element of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Scoring eighteen points for possession of a firearm in this instance is a violation of the double jeopardy protections of both the United States and Florida Constitution. This Court should reverse the Second District Court of Appeal because the scoring of eighteen points in his case is a violation of double jeopardy principles.

The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court, but certified a conflict between its decision and the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Galloway v. State, 680 So. 2d (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). The Galloway decision constued Fla. R. Crim. P. Rule 3.702(d)(12), in a way that excludes possessory crimes. In addition to the constitutional infirmity, Petitoner believes that this Court should adopt the reasoning of Galloway and construe Rule 3.702(d)(12) to be inapplicable in his case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING EIGHTEEN POINTS ON THE GUIDELINES SCORESHEET FOR POSSESSION OF A FIREARM WHEN A FIREARM IS ONE OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME FOR WHICH PETITIONER WAS BEING SENTENCED.

Petitioner was sentenced under the 1994 Revised Guidelines. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.702(d)(12) allows the addition of eighteen points for predicate felonies involving firearms in the following language:

Possession of a firearm, destructive device, semiautomatic weapon, or a machine gun during the commission or attempt to commit a crime will result in additional sentence points. Eighteen sentence points shall be assessed where the defendant is convicted of committing or attempting to commit any felony other than those enumerated in subsection 775.087(2) while having in his or her possession a firearm as defined in 790.001(6)....

The offenses enumerated in Section 775.087(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1993), are the following: murder, sexual battery, robbery, burglary, arson, aggravated assault, aggravated battery, kidnapping, escape, breaking and entering with intent to commit a felony, an attempt to commit any of the aforementioned crimes, or any battery upon a law enforcement officer or firefighter.

The offenses for which Petitioner was convicted, carrying a concealed firarm and possession of a firearm by a felon, are not among the enumerated felonies in Section 775.087(2)(a), Florida

Statutes (1993). Nevertheless, the eighteen points should not be scored because a firearm is an essential element of those crimes. Scoring the eighteen points in this case would be a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

Furthermore, the reasoning of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Galloway v. State</u>, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), is correct on this issue. In <u>Galloway</u>, the Fourth District Court rejected the double jeopardy argument, but construed Rule 3.702(d) - (12) to be inapplicable to convictions for carrying a concealed firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon when the convictions were unrelated to the commission of any additional substantive offense. <u>Galloway</u>, 680 So. 2d at 617.

In <u>Galloway</u>, the defendant was convicted of carrying a concealed firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. The Fourth District Court of Appeal disagreed with the Second District's interpretation of the language of Rule 3.702(d)(12). The Rule provides for assessment of the eighteen points when a defendant is convicted of a felony "while having in his or her possession a firearm." (Emphasis added.) The Fourth District reasoned that although the addition of the points did not offend principles of double jeopardy, the plain language of the Rule requires a conviction of another substantive offense during which a defendant possesses a firearm. <u>Galloway</u>, 680 So. 2d at 617. The <u>Galloway</u> Court held that if the felonies for which a defendant is

convicted are offenses in which a firearm was an essential element of the crime, then the eighteen points should not be scored.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has also considered this issue in <u>Gardner v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). In <u>Gardner</u>, the defendant was convicted of trafficking in cocaine, possession of marijuana with intent to sell, and carrying a concealed firearm. The firearm was secreted in the waistband of Gardner's trousers at the time he was committing the other two crimes. <u>Gardner</u>, 661 So. 2d at 1275.

In <u>Gardner</u>, eighteen points had been assessed for possession of a firearm pursuant to Rule 3.702(d)(12). The Fifth District rejected Gardner's argument that the eighteen points should not be scored because a firearm was an essential element of the crime of carrying a concealed firearm. The <u>Gardner</u> Court construed Rule 3.702(d)(12) to allow the scoring of the eighteen points because it provided that the points should be assessed when a person committed "any felony." However, in Gardner's case, "any felony" included the offenses of trafficking in cocaine and possession of marijuana with the intent to sell. (Emphasis added.) <u>Gardner</u>, 661 So. 2d at 1275.

Petitioner believes that the <u>Gardner</u> Court did not address the exact issue being raised in his case. Furthermore, Petitioner believes that it is implied, but not directly stated in <u>Gardner</u>, that if the only offenses a defendant is convicted of are felonies where a firearm is an essential element of the crimes and no other substantive offenses are involved, then the eighteen points should

not be scored. Essentially, on this issue, <u>Gardner</u> and <u>Galloway</u> would appear to be in agreement.

Prior to its ruling in Petitioner's case, the Second District Court of Appeal addressed a similar issue in <u>State v. Davidson</u>, 666 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). Davidson had been convicted of carrying a concealed firearm. The State wanted twenty-five points scored because the firearm was a semiautomatic weapon. <u>Davidson</u>, 666 So. 2d at 942.

Fla. R. Crim. P.3.702(d)(12) provides:

... Twenty-five sentence points shall be assessed where the offender is convicted of committing or attempting to commit any felony other than those enumerated in subsection 775.087(2) while having in his or her possession a semiautomatic weapon as defined in subsection 775.087(2) or a machine gun as defined in subsection 790.001(9).

In <u>Davidson</u>, the trial judge declined to score the twenty-five points. The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the trial judge. In doing so, the <u>Davidson</u> Court rejected the double jeopardy argument and the argument that the scoring of the additional points was an improper enlargement of the sentence solely as a result of an essential element of the underlying offense; i.e., the firearm. <u>Davidson</u>, 666 So. 2d at 942.

<u>Davidson</u> can be distinguished from Petitioner's case. A semiautomatic weapon or a machine gun is not <u>per se</u> an essential element of the crime of carrying a concealed firearm. Although a semiautomatic weapon or a machine gun is a firearm, it could be argued that the punishment is enhanced because of the dangerous nature of the firearm. Machine guns and semiautomatic weapons pose

a special danger to society, and increased punishment for their possession may be valid without offending double jeopardy or other prohibitions.

However, as in Petitioner's case, the enhancement of punishment for a crime such as carrying a concealed firearm or possession of a firearm by a convicted felon because of a factor which is an essential element of the crime is improper and it is not called for by the Rules. The scoring of the eighteen points would amount to multiple or enhanced punishment for the same offense in violation of double jeopardy protections. The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which is enforceable against the State of Florida through the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, forbids multiple punishment for the same offense. Lippman v. State, 633 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 1994). Additionally, Article I, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution provides defendants with at least as much protection from double jeopardy as is provided by the United States Constitution. Wright v. State, 586 So. 2d 710 (Fla. 1991).

Petitioner's offense, carrying a concealed firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, require possession of a firearm as an essential of element of the crime. Double jeopardy has been found to be a bar to adjudicate a defendant guilty for possession of a firearm during commission of a felony where other counts are enhanced for use of the same firearm. Cleveland v. State, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991); Clarington v. State, 636 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

In <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 585 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1991), this Court held that where a firearm is an essential element of the crime for which the defendant is convicted, the sentence cannot be enhanced because of the use of a firearm. In <u>Gonzalez</u>, the defendant was found guilty of third-degree murder with a firearm, a second-degree felony. The trial judge enhanced the charge to a first-degree felony because of the use of a firearm. <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 585 So. 2d at 933. This Court reversed the trial court, relying upon the reasoning of then Judge Anstead's dissenting opinion in <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 782 at 784-85 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). <u>See also</u>, Lareau v. State, 573 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 1991).

Consequently, the scoring of eighteen points on the guidelines scoresheet in Petitioner's case is an error. His possession of a firearm in each offense is already factored into his sentence by what degree of felony it is classified and by what offense severity ranking each offense receives (possession of a firearm by a convicted felon is a second-degree felony and a level five offense severity ranking. For these reasons, Petitioner's sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the decision of the Second District court and affirm Petitioner's sentence in the trial court.