IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 18 1997/

PATRICIA HILTON SHIVER,

CLERR, SIUPREME COURT By_____ Charl Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 91,793

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

SUSAN D. DUNLEVY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 229032 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged by information in circuit court case no. 94-4939 with carrying a concealed firearm, in violation of Section 790.01, Florida Statutes (1993); driving with a suspended driver's license, in violation of Section 322.34, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1994); and operating a motor vehicle with an expired license plate, in violation of Section 320.07, Florida Statutes (1993) (R 2-4). She pled nolo contendere pursuant to a plea bargain to the charge of carrying a concealed firearm and driving while her license was suspended, and the expired license plate charge was nolle prosequied (R 10-12, 16-17). On May 11, 1995, Petitioner was adjudicated guilty and placed on probation for 2 years on count 1 and 6 months on count 2, the probationary terms to run concurrently (R 5-7).

On August 15, 1995, a warrant and affidavit of violation of probation were filed against Petitioner alleging that she had absconded from her approved residence (R 18-19). She admitted the charged violation, and her probation was modified on September 5, 1995 to add a required condition of 100 ACS hours (R 20).

On September 29, 1995, a second warrant and affidavit of probation violation were filed against Petitioner alleging 9 violations, 8 of which were criminal offenses (R 21-22). She admitted the violations and was sentenced on November 17, 1995, to 9 months in jail followed by 2 years on community control followed by 3 years probation (R 23-25).

On February 12, 1996, in circuit court case no. 96-597, Petitioner was charged by information with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, in violation of Section 790.23, Florida Statutes (1995), and sale, delivery, or possession of a firearm with an altered serial number, in violation of Section 320.07, Florida Statutes (1995) (R 28-30).

On June 20, 1996, a third warrant and affidavit of probation violation were filed against Petitioner alleging that she had absconded from her approved residence (R 32-33).

On December 30, 1996, Petitioner pled guilty to the firearm possession charge in case no. 96-597 pursuant to a plea bargain, and the State nolle prossed the other count (R 65-67, 69). She also admitted violating her community control in case no. 94-4939 (R 68). The guidelines scoresheets presented by the State at sentencing (R 59-64) included 18 points for a firearm or destructive device, for a total of 58.4 sentence points in case no. 94-4939 and 57.5 sentence points in case no. 96-597 (R 60, 63). Petitioner challenged the inclusion of the firearm points on both scoresheets on the ground that such points should be added only when the firearm in question is not an essential element of the charged offense, noting that this issue had been raised and PCA'd in State v. Haygood, 681 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) (R 38-39, 46). The prosecutor responded that PCA's have no precedential value and that this principle was particularly applicable in Haygood inasmuch as Haygood had less than 52 guidelines points even with 18 firearm

points included, so that his sentence would have been discretionary with the trial court in any event (R 39-41, 44). The prosecutor additionally relied on *Smith v. State*, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), arguing that it supported the State's position on the firearm points issue in the instant case (R 41-44).

Although agreeing with the State that PCAs do not constitute binding precedent, the trial court ruled in Petitioner's favor (R 45-46, 49), noting:

It may be suggested, and it may be persuasive, but I've been around long enough and I know some PCAs that would -- or apparently the courts felt that was what justice required in that case, but would turn the law in its head in certain areas if they had announced a ruling based on that.

However, in this particular case, I am going to strike eighteen points and maybe we'll get some law in the Second DCA at some point in time.

(R 45-46)

In case no. 94-4939, Petitioner's probation was revoked, and she was given concurrent sentences in both cases of 6 months in jail followed by 2 years community control followed by 3 years probation (R 68-71). The State filed its notice of appeal on January 3, 1997 (R 72).

The Second District reversed Petitioner's sentence in an opinion dated October 17, 1997, holding that the 18 points for a firearm had been properly included on her sentencing guidelines scoresheets by the prosecutor but certifying conflict with *Galloway* v.

State, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). State v. Shiver, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2437 (Fla. 2d DCA Oct. 17, 1997).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in striking the 18 points for a firearm from Petitioner's sentencing guidelines scoresheet prior to sentencing her, and the Second District Court of Appeal therefore correctly reversed Petitioner's sentence. Rule 3.702(d)(12), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, coupled with the applicable statutes, requires that these points be included under circumstances such as Petitioner's.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING 18 POINTS ON PETITIONER'S SENTENCING GUIDELINES SCORESHEET FOR A FIREARM WHERE POSSESSION OF A FIREARM IS ONE OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME FOR WHICH PETITIONER WAS BEING SEN-TENCED.

Rule 3.702(d)(12), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, sets forth the rules for preparing a criminal defendant's sentencing guidelines scoresheet. Rule 3.702(d)(12) provides in pertinent

part:

Possession of a firearm, destructive device, semiautomatic weapon, or a machine gun during the commission or attempt to commit a crime will result in additional sentence points. Eighteen sentence points *shall* be assessed where the defendant is convicted of committing or attempting to commit *any felony other than those enumerated in subsection 775.087(2)* while having in his or her possession a firearm as defined in subsection 790.-001(6)....

(Emphasis supplied).

In the cases at bar, Petitioner pled guilty to possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and nolo contendere to carrying a concealed firearm. The felonies enumerated in Section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes (1995), are:

> murder; sexual battery; robbery; burglary; arson; aggravated assault; aggravated battery; kidnaping; escape; sale, manufacture, delivery, or intent to sell, manufacture, or deliver any controlled substance; aircraft piracy; aggravated child abuse; unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb; carjacking; home-invasion robbery; or aggravated stalking.

The offenses in question to which Petitioner pled guilty are felonies, but neither is one of those enumerated in Section 775.087(2). Therefore, under the plain language of the rule, for any felony in which Petitioner possessed a firearm other than those excepted felonies, the additional points were required to be assessed in both cases involved here. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.702(d)(12).

In State v. Davidson, 666 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), the Second District Court of Appeal held that the additional points requirement of Rule 3.702(d)(12) was applicable to defendants charged, as was Petitioner here, with carrying a concealed firearm. Davidson has been followed by the 5th DCA in Smith v. State, 683 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), which, also like the instant case, involved defendants charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon.

Petitioner asserts that addition of eighteen points for a firearm violates double jeopardy in that a firearm is an essential

element of each offense upon which the addition of those points was based. In the alternative, Petitioner argues that this Court should apply the reasoning of the Fourth District in *Galloway v. State*, 680 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), because here, as in *Galloway*, no additional substantive felony was committed. Respondent's position, however, is that these points were properly added by the prosecutor.

Double jeopardy does not apply here because, in order to qualify for the additional points, a defendant must commit a felony other than one of the enumerated exceptions and must have a firearm in his or her possession while doing so. Possession of a firearm is not an element of *all* felonies, and the legislature is free to impose an increased penalty for crimes committed by a defendant who is carrying a firearm. This is not a separate offense, *Davidson*, nor was Petitioner subjected to multiple punishments or trials for the same offense.

This Court should likewise reject Petitioner's alternative argument that this Court should follow *Galloway*, which held that Rule 3.702(d)(12), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, is applicable only where the offender has been convicted of an additional substantive offense. This is not a reasonable interpretation of the legislature's intent in promulgating Rule 3.702(d)(12).

That rule plainly reads that it is the possession of a firearm while attempting to commit or committing a felony other than those enumerated in Section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes (1993), that

requires inclusion of the additional points. There is no reason why this rule could not have been drafted so as to exclude carrying a concealed firearm or other possessory crimes; our legislature having failed to do this, eighteen points must be added to a defendant's score whenever that offender has committed "any felony" while in possession of a firearm. Respondent submits that the Fifth District in Gardner v. State, 661 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), was correct in holding that the language of rule 3.702-(d)(12), means "any felony." Since misuse of firearms is a crucial issue in this state, it is certainly fair to interpret this provision as an intentional effort to further penalize convicted felons who illegally possess a firearm even if the crime itself is carrying a concealed firearm. The legislature of this state has adequately put convicted felons on notice that the act of outfitting oneself with a firearm and concealing it can lead to more severe punishment.

Petitioner's contention that *Davidson* can be factually distinguished from this case in a meaningful fashion is incorrect. Although Davidson was charged with carrying a concealed semiautomatic firearm, rather than a revolver, the Second District did not hang its proverbial hat on that factual distinction but rather agreed with the result reached in *Gardner*, which did not involve a semiautomatic weapon. The critical fact was that Davidson had committed or was attempting to commit a felony, concealment of a firearm, while in possession of a firearm.

Likewise, here the gravamen of the offenses is not merely the firearm. Rather, the state had to present proof that Petitioner was a convicted felon and that she was concealing the firearm. If the state had been unable to prove these elements, Petitioner's judgments could not stand.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertions, the additional points assessed pursuant to Rule 3.702(d)(12) cannot be compared to reclassification or the kind of enhancement of a *conviction* prohibited where use of a firearm is an essential element of the crime. Thus, *Gonzalez v. State*, 585 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1991); *Cleveland v. State*, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991); and *Clarington v. State*, 636 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), *review denied*, 648 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1994), upon which Petitioner relies, are inapplicable here.

It is clear that, under the plain language of the rule, the trial court erred in striking the 18 points for a firearm from both of Petitioner's guidelines scoresheets prior to sentencing her and that the Second District correctly reversed and remanded to the trial court for readdition of those 18 points to her scoresheets and resentencing based on the corrected scoresheets.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, argument, and citations of authority, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court approve the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal reversing the trial court's striking of 18 points for a firearm from Petitioner's sentencing guidelines scoresheets.